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degli Angeli

Michelangelo’s “Minimalism” in the Design of Santa Maria

1. Marten van Heemskerck, View of the
Baths of Diocletian, 1530s, calidarium
in foreground, frigidarium visible beyond
(from C. Hiilsen, H. Egger [eds.], Die
romischen Skizzenbiicher von Marten
van Heemskerck, Soest 1975, 11, fol. §3v).

In 1561, when Pius 1v determined to build the new
Carthusian basilica and monastery of Santa Maria
degli Angeli at the Baths of Diocletian, he entrust-
ed its design to Michelangelo (ill. 1). At eighty-
six, Michelangelo would have little time to devote
to this commission; when the first surviving con-
struction records were issued in April 1563, he had
only ten more months to live. One might even
conclude that the limited modifications conducted
under his supervision at the site were dictated
purely by the constraints of time. Yet it is also pos-
sible to argue that Michelangelo’s design in fact
demonstrated his profound concern for the
preservation of the ruins of ancient Rome. Indeed,
Michelangelo had already adopted a consistent ap-
proach regarding preservation of pre-existing ele-
ments in his earlier projects, and these concerns
would assume only greater prominence during his
later career as a builder in the papal capital. In this
essay we will consider how Michelangelo’s design
at the Baths of Diocletian — guided by what can be
characterized as an intentional “minimalism” — at-
tested to the artist’s deliberate and sustained desire
to preserve the ancient remains of Rome.

The creation of Santa Maria degli Angeli at
the Baths signaled the sixteenth-century revival
of the traditional Roman practice of converting
ancient structures to serve Christian liturgical
functions. The project has thus often been dis-
cussed as the manifestation of a reactionary
Counter-Reformation rhetoric, predicated upon
the subjugation of the pagan past to the Chris-
tian present’. But it is our contention that
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Michelangelo’s “minimalist” intervention was
inherently more ambiguous than the associa-
tions with triumphal propaganda would lead us
to believe. Indeed, by designating Santa Maria
degli Angeli a straightforward conquest of antiq-
uity by the institution of the Counter-Reforma-
tion Church, we overlook the importance which
Michelangelo gave to the preservation of ancient
remains, as a reflection of knowledge and expe-
rience which he acquired over a lifetime of
working around and upon existing historic struc-
tures in Italy. While pre-modern interventions
upon archaeological remains have been general-
ly remained as insensitive or overly harsh,
Michelangelo’s “minimalist” solution at the
Baths demonstrated not only a heightened sensi-
tivity to these surviving artifacts, but a profound
sympathy for their fragile physical condition’.
In this essay, we will first briefly discuss the
broader tradition of preserving ancient remains
at Rome as the necessary context for this build-
ing project. Then we will examine how
Michelangelo’s designs were conceived as specif-
ic preservation solutions for the ancient building
fabric of the Baths. As noted earlier, Michelan-
gelo’s distinctive approach to the problem of
protecting ancient remains took shape over the
course of his long career. Already in his first ar-
chitectural projects at Bologna and Florence he
revealed an interest in preservation; this interest
became even more apparent in the later work
which he conducted among the monumental an-
cient ruins of Rome. In conclusion, we will con-
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2. Leonardo Bufalini, Map of Rome, 1551,
detail showing site of the Baths of Diocletian
at the juncture of the Quirinal, Viminal,
and Esquiline Hills (from L. Cangemi,

La Certosa di Roma, iz Analecta
Carthusiana, edited by J. Hogg, A. Girard,
and D. Le Blévec, Salzburg 2002, 11, fig. 23).

sider how Michelangelo’s plans for a new church
at this ruined ancient site may be linked not only
to Counter-Reformation ideology, but also to
the broader religious notion of the resurrection.
While such a study must remain to some degree
speculative, it also has the merit of enabling us to
better appreciate the inherent symbolic value of
Michelangelo’s “minimalist” approach.

The tradition of preserving

ancient remains at Rome

The eventual disintegration of the imperial ad-
ministration of ancient Rome, tends to be equat-
ed with the destruction of the city itself: we are
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all familiar with the vision of barbarian invaders
devastating the marble monuments of the post-
classical city. Yet we should also be aware of the
fact that, throughout history, there is evidence
for persistent concern regarding the preserva-
tion of the city’s buildings. Key preservation leg-
islation was already instituted by imperial edict
in late antiquity, and the defense of the city’s an-
cient fabric would number among the key re-
sponsibilities of the ruling administration. Later
rulers would continue to exploit the established
association between preservation and power
long after the fall of Rome*.

Indeed, the issue of preservation represented a
shrewd political maneuver in a setting so pro-
foundly marked by surviving symbols of imperial
prestige and authority. By claiming to preserve
these remains, rulers could assert their authority
as the pious guardians of ancient Rome, under-
scoring their legitimacy as the rightful heirs of the
imperial past. The right to dictate the fate of an
ancient structure symbolized the right to exercise
absolute power; what is more, through preserva-
tion one could coopt the proud imperial past as
one’s own. Thus the Gothic ruler Theodoric de-
fended the preservaton of Roman antiquities in
the fifth century, as a means to assert his Roman-
ized identity. In contrast, for the Byzantine author
Procopius, writing in the next century, the preser-
vation of Roman antiquity was a sign of solidarity
between Byzantium and Rome, in opposition to
the alien Gothic invaders. Preservation thus con-
tinued to offer a strategic means to structure the
physical remains of the past to reinforce one’s
own political position’.

The political organ which exploited the po-
tential of preservation to greatest effect in me-
dieval Rome was the secular civic government,
founded in the twelfth century on the Capitoline
Hills. The defense of ancient remains afforded
these local civic leaders a strategic entrée into a
hostile political environment dominated by the
international papal court and powerful baronial
families’. In the first recorded statutes of the
fourteenth century, the Conservators, the lead-
ing officials of the civic government, identified
the safeguarding of Roman antiquity among
their exclusive prerogatives®. Following the re-
turn of the Holy See in 1420, however, the Con-
servators soon found that they had to yield many
of these exclusive privileges — including preser-
vation — to papal authority. As the popes asserted
supreme temporal power over the ancient city,
they also assumed the effective right to manage
— destroying but also preserving — the surviving
ancient remains.

While we know that much archaeological ev-
idence was irretrievably lost during the con-
struction of the Renaissance papal capital, at the
same time the popes also took crucial steps to
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regulate tumultuous urban expansion’. Invoking
imperial precedent, the popes sought to rein in
and control the destruction of ancient remains.
This was attested by such acts as the reinstate-
ment of the maestri di strade by Martin v in 1423,
the 1462 bull issued by Pius 11 to protect the an-
cient remains of Rome, the 1534 appointment
by Paul 111 of the first commissario alle antichita, as
well as others!. Already the fifteenth-century
humanist Biondo Flavio emphasized the crucial
role of the popes in preserving the ancient city:
in the Roma instaurata, compiled between 1444
and 1446, Biondo declared that Rome owed its
very survival to the presence of the papacy. If the
return of the Holy See had been delayed by so
much as a decade, Biondo affirmed that the en-
tire city — including both its inhabitants as well as
its physical setting — would have perished'!.
Like other humanists, Biondo advocated for
the preservation of the city’s threatened ancient
remains; more unusual was the fact that he also
recognized the qualitative differences between
possible types of protective interventions. In par-
ticular, his use of terminology in the Roma instau-
rata drew a precise distinction between what we
would now define as an act of preservation, as op-
posed to an act of restoration. Biondo declared
that papal presence had ensured that the city of
Rome survived intact; in this case, he used the
term conservare. Yet soon after, he also praised the
pope for having restored many of the city’s ru-
ined buildings, using the term instaurare'®. In this
case, as in the title of his volume, Biondo referred
to an active rebuilding, where a structure — or
even an entire city — could be returned to a more
stable and secure condition. Thus we see Biondo,
and Renaissance scholarship more broadly, mak-
ing an important intellectual advance in conceiv-
ing preservation and restoration as two funda-
mentally different approaches to the historic arti-
fact, a distinction that still remains axiomatic in
contemporary historic preservation discourse'*.

The preservation of the Baths of Diocletian
The history of the Baths of Diocletian reveals
that there has been perennial interest in preserv-
ing these monumental structures, as the remains
of the largest ancient bath complex ever built in
Rome (ill. 2). Although isolated from the Vatican
and the center of the medieval city, the Baths of
Diocletian retained a vibrant hold over the pop-
ular imagination; medieval pilgrim itineraries in-
dicate that the site attracted a stream of curious
visitors'*. It seems that there were a number of
proposals in the middle ages to adapt the ancient
site as a certosa or Carthusian monastery, al-
though none of these came to fruition®.

The medieval idea of restoring and reusing
the Baths for contemporary needs would itself
be revived in the sixteenth century by the priest
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Antonio Duca's. Early in his career Duca be-
came devoted to the cult of the angels, and
through his contacts with high-ranking Church
officials and aristocratic patrons, he helped to
promote the cult as an international phenome-
non. Then, in 1541 Duca experienced an ecstatic
vision convincing him that the Baths had been
divinely ordained to become a church dedicated
to the cult of the angels and the martyrs'”. Over
the next two decades, he made repeated appeals
to the popes to support his plan, which however
they turned down for its excessive anticipated
expense. For example, while Paul 11 (1534-1549)
expressed his support for Duca’s vision, he too
rejected the project as simply too large — “troppo
gran macchina” — to be economically feasible's.

However, with the election of Pius Ivin 1560,
the tide finally turned in Duca’s favor. Thanks to
the enthusiastic determination of the new pope,
Duca’s longed-for and ambitious proposal would
now become reality!”. On 27 July 1561 Pius 1Iv
issued a papal bull which recorded the founda-
tion of the new church at the site?. In this doc-
ument, the pope declared that preservation of
the ancient bath complex was a primary papal
concern: after having lain “for many centuries
derelict and neglected”, the repair and subse-
quent revamping of the ruins as a church would
not only augment and promote the Christian
faith, but contribute to the greater decorum and
splendor of the papal capital®!.

It may be that the unusual prominence of
preservation in this papal legislation reflected a
papal strategy to placate the Conservators. The
conversion of the Baths marked a papal incur-
sion upon the authority and privileges of the
civic magistrates, in their role as the traditional
guardians of the city’s ancient remains?. Yet
while Pius v subtracted the Baths from the
rightful purview of the Conservators, the bull
served as a reassurance that the creation of the
new church would also ensure the preservation
and improvement of the ancient monument.
Thus the attentive papal interest to preservation
matters may have been conceived as a conciliato-
ry gesture. It seems to have produced its intend-
ed effect, for when the Conservators submitted
their approval of the proposed plan, they ap-
plauded it for preserving and restoring the an-
cient complex. As they declared, through this
work “not only will the ancient remains be pre-
served, but they will also be restored, much am-

plified, and embellished”?.

Michelangelo’s “minimalism”

as a preservation strategy

While the obligation to preserve the ancient
Baths was an explicit and integral part of the de-
sign program at Santa Maria degli Angeli, the so-
lutions to achieve this goal would still be left to
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the discretion of the designer. Michelangelo’s ac-
cumulated knowledge and experience regarding
preservation issues would have made him emi-
nently qualified for such a commission. Indeed, it
may have been specifically the issue of preserva-
tion which drew him to the project, persuading
him to accept this additional commitment during
this late and very busy phase of his career. Cer-
tainly the prospect of building a new church at
the site represented an intriguing challenge. Inte-
grating modern functions into an existing struc-
tural shell, while preserving its original unique
character, required the invention of an unprece-
dented architectural preservation scheme.

What was the nature of Michelangelo’s inter-
vention at the site? According to the contempo-
rary chronicler Matteo Catalani, the first priority
was to “cover the principal vaults with tiles”*.
The outermost skin of the structure demanded
immediate attention; presumably this involved
stabilizing and reinforcing the system of tile roofs
above the frigidarium and the adjoining struc-
tures. With this strategy, Michelangelo sought to
ensure the structural integrity of the complex and
to arrest the inexorable process of decay.

Such initial maintenance work may have been
relatively inconspicuous, but Michelangelo would
also make decisions that would have critical im-
pact upon the visitor’s perception and experience
of the ancient complex. All of this work appears to
have been guided by an explicit “minimalist” ap-
proach, in the sense that his designs were calculat-
ed to reduce the destruction of the ancient re-
mains to an absolute minimum. This was evident
already in his orientation of the new basilica.
Where Antonio Duca had proposed to align the
new church along the length of the frigidarium,
Michelangelo chose the alternative cross-axis for
the new nave, thus arranging the plan in the form
of a Greek cross”®. With this plan, Michelangelo
structured a sequence of liturgical spaces con-
forming to the original sequence of the ancient
Baths. This design underscored the notion that
the new function could be compatible with the
original structure, rather than in conflict. By ex-
tension, it also implied that fewer alterations,
rather than more, were sufficient to adapt the
structure to its new use.

Yet this “minimalist” approach did not pre-
clude the introduction of significant new struc-
tural elements to the ancient Baths. On the con-
trary, Michelangelo inserted ten new masonry
partitions between the existing internal structur-
al piers of the frigidarium. This created a new
perimeter wall for the church which as Catalani
reported, “ristrinse il corpo della chiesa”, re-
stricting it to a smaller portion of the original
ancient hall (ill. 3)?. As Catalani observed,
Michelangelo also began work on a new chancel
extending into the area of the natatio, opposite
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the rotunda of the tepidarium. The construction
of such partition walls offered three principal ad-
vantages to the builder. First, they circumscribed
the most impressive vaulted spaces of the frigi-
darium, isolating and preserving them as the
core of the new church. Second, they cut off the
lower external bays, reducing the vast interior
space and making it less unwieldy. Third, by
eliminating these external bays, Michelangelo
also avoided the expensive restoration of the ex-
ternal bays, as the most damaged surviving parts
of the ancient complex?’. Budgetary concerns
would have been a primary preoccupation for
Pius 1v; like his predecessors, the pope was anx-
ious to avoid exorbitant building expenses. In-
deed, Catalani reported that the pope favored
Michelangelo’s design specifically because it re-
quired minimal financial outlay?®.

The design of the new chancel in particular
provides an even better example of the ingenious
means with which Michelangelo’s “minimalist”
solutions could balance preservation concerns
with new uses (ill. 4)°. The chancel, as the set-
ting for the high altar, was the most important
liturgical space of the new church. Michelange-
lo’s design for the new chancel would integrate
the new ecclesiastical functions with the existing
architectural forms seamlessly. His design both
satisfied the needs of the officiating clergy while
at the same time preserving the distinctive char-
acter of the ancient frigidarium.

Originally many of the numerous arched en-
tryways linking the different interior spaces of
the Baths of Diocletian were bridged by column
screens. These monumental architectural frame-
works, consisting of an entablature and support-
ed by freestanding colums, had little structural
value; nevertheless they served a crucial visual
function, marking clear boundaries between the
successive halls without compromising the spa-
tial continuity between these spaces*®. Contem-
porary drawings of the frigidarium at the Baths
of Diocletian suggest that when Michelangelo
began work on the site, the column screens were
mostly in ruins, with only some fragmentary
pieces still in place’!.

Michelangelo would adapt this characteristic
motif from the imperial baths of Rome to gener-
ate his design for the chancel surrounding the
high altar (ill. 5). We do not know whether the
column screen spanning the central bay of the
high altar survived intact when Michelangelo be-
gan work. Probably he had to conduct significant
repairs to the structure; he may have even re-
assembled its dismembered parts, thus adopting a
procedure which modern archaeologists call
anastylosis. In any case, this was not an exact re-
construction, for Michelangelo altered the an-
cient arrangement of the column screen by in-
serting a partition wall between the two columns
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3. Reconstructed plan of Santa Maria
degli Angeli as designed by Michelangelo
(from H. Siebenhiiner, S. Maria degli
Angeli in Rom, in “Miinchner Fabrbuch
der bildenden Kunst”, 6, 1955, fig. 19).

4. Etienne Dupérac, Map of Rome, 1577.
Bird’s-eye view of the Baths of Diocletian
with Michelangelo’s new chancel (from
Cuangemi, La Certosa di Roma, cit., 11,

fig- 49).

5 1,\R,Q,_,1N:l

@ll. 6)*2. By introducing a clear separation be-
tween the frigidarium and the chancel, the col-
umn screen now provided a private setting for
the clergy to officiate. This was calculated to sat-
isfy the needs of the new occupants of the struc-
ture, the Carthusian monks, who desired a more
private setting for their ceremonies®. Yet at the
same time, Michelangelo’s solution reinforced
the importance of the original column screen in
the design of the ancient bath complex. Indeed,
this may be viewed as a quintessentially “mini-
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malist” solution, where a single feature per-
formed double duty; thus the column screen
served new liturgical needs while also reestablish-
ing the character of the original frigidarium.

Michelangelo’s management and use of an-
cient materials for new construction on the
building site also suggest an attention to preser-
vation issues. The evidence of the surviving ac-
count books suggests that Michelangelo deliber-
ately minimized the use of spoliz in the new con-
struction of Santa Maria degli Angeli**. In the ten
months that elapsed between 24 April 1563, the
date of the first entry in the records, and 18 Feb-
ruary 1564, the date of Michelangelo’s death, the
account books recorded the acquisition of com-
mon building materials such as bricks, volcanic
sand, and lime but made almost no reference to
the use of other, more valuable, and possibly an-
cient building materials. Often the production of
lime involved the burning of ancient marble, but
in this case the entries specified calce da Tivoli,
suggesting the use of local travertine rather than
more expensive marble. Perhaps this even meant
travertine was shipped in from new quarries in
Tivoli rather than excavated from ancient sites in
Rome¥. The building accounts also specified the
use of tufa, the volcanic, friable building stone
available in abundance around Rome. While tufa
offered economic advantages as a cheaper build-
ing material, its use could also signal a preserva-
tion strategy, as this was a building stone that
generally lacked antiquarian value in sixteenth-
century Rome?*.

Marble, on the other hand, commanded both
economic and antiquarian value, causing the de-
spoliation of many ancient sites around the city.
Yet marble was conspicuous only in its absence
from the building accounts. The only reference in
the accounts to muarmo before Michelangelo’s
death was a payment for the marble heraldic shield
carved with the papal insignia, recorded on 4 Jan-
uary 1564%". The same accounts also reported pay-
ments for a travertine cornice and six travertine
capitals for the chancel surrounding the high al-
tar’s. As we have seen, while such travertine might
have been collected from ancient sites in Rome, it
is equally likely that it was collected from quarries
in Tivoli. In any event, the use of such travertine
was clearly very limited during Michelangelo’s su-
pervision of the building site.

After Michelangelo’s death, the attention to
preservation on the active building site appears
to have plummeted. On 16 April 1565, the wag-
on driver Jacopo da Castiglione brought four
columns with bases and capitals, undoubtedly
ancient spolia, for one of the altars in the new
church, while later that summer, on 24 August
1565, a team of ten horses dragged blocks of
travertine from the neighboring Esquiline Hill
to decorate the new chancel®. The construction
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5. Bernardo Gamucci, Transverse section

of frigidarium with altar located in central
bay, site of future chancel designed

by Michelangelo (in Id., Libri quattro
dell’antichita della cittd di Roma, Venezia
1565. From Cangemi, La Certosa

di Roma, cit., 11, fig. 37).

of the famous cloister of Santa Maria degli An-
geli, built in the area of the natatio outside the
frigidarium and often attributed to Michelangelo
but in fact begun only after his death in 1565, al-
so made extensive use of recuperated ancient
stones®. This suggests that while Michelangelo’s
construction management of Santa Maria degli
Angeli was distinguished by a frugal, even fastid-
ious “minimalism”, his successors settled for the
more convenient Roman building practice of
reusing ancient stones for new construction.

Michelangelo’s engagement
with preservation issues
The importance which the preservation of antiq-
uity assumed during this intervention at the Baths
was not an accidental coincidence or an aberrant
tangent. On the contrary, there is persuasive evi-
dence to suggest that Michelangelo took ongoing
interest in such matters. Yet because of the pre-
vailing interpretation which emphasizes the no-
tion that Renaissance builders unthinkingly de-
stroyed ancient remains, we still tend to overlook
the cumulative evidence attesting to his lifelong
interest in preserving ancient remains.
Undoubtedly Michelangelo’s noted inven-
tiveness and liberty from convention has also
helped to distract our attention from his interest
in preservation. As Vasari noted, Michelangelo’s
unprecedented designs “broke the bonds and
chains that had previously confined [artists] to
the creation of traditional forms”*. The vigor-
ous rejection of standard architectural models
might seem to clash on principle with the cau-
tious, preservation-minded outlook of the schol-
arly antiquarian. Further, Michelangelo’s draw-
ings after antiquity also indicate an unorthodox,
even casual approach toward ancient remains,
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suggesting a contrast with the painstaking accu-
racy of the antiquarian. Rather than attempting
to produce a systematic visual record, the frag-
mentary drawings by Michelangelo that survive
suggest that he focused upon those details of an-
cient forms which appealed to him at the mo-
ment; these included rapid sketches of unidenti-
fied columns and entablatures, as well as a partial
elevation of the Arch of Constantine®. Such
work does not readily conform to the antiquari-
an notion of a corpus of measured drawings of
antiquity, and one might well conclude that oth-
er concerns took priority for Michelangelo over
the preservation of ancient remains.

Yet we would be mistaken if we were to make
such an assumption. If anything, Michelangelo’s
apparent indifference to antiquarian practices
might suggest his resistance to the notion of cre-
ating an arbitrary and prescriptive classical gram-
mar. But in terms of making new interventions in
a pre-existing context, there is evidence to prove
that Michelangelo strongly favored the preserva-
tion of ancient remains, and that he took key
steps to protect ancient structures from harm.

Already as early as 1510, more than fifty years
before construction began at the Baths, Miche-
langelo participated in an extraordinary series of
preservation measures for the portal of San Petro-
nio in Bologna®. The proposed construction of a
new facade for San Petronio required the rebuild-
ing of its main portal by Jacopo della Quercia. In
response to this situation, the building contract in-
cluded the precise stipulation that the existing por-
tal and all of its ornamental elements should be
dismantled and then remounted precisely “in that
form which it has now”*. It seems clear Michelan-
gelo was well aware of this project, as he had just
completed the monumental bronze statue of Julius
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6. Girolamo Franzini, Single surviving
view of the altar and column screen designed
by Michelangelo (in Le cose maravigliose
dell’alma citta di Roma, Venezia 1588.
From Cangemi, La Certosa di Roma, cit.,

11, fig. 46).
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11 destined for the same fagade — indeed, the con-
tract specified that his statue had already been in-
stalled in its niche directly over the portal. We
know Michelangelo admired the work of Jacopo
della Quercia, which makes it seems likely he
would have favored such an intervention; possibly
he was even responsible for conjuring up this elab-
orate preservation campaign, which required the
laborious reconstruction of the original portal im-
mediately adjacent to its original position.

An exchange of letters around fifteen years
later provides further evidence that Michelangelo
refrained from the established practice of exca-
vating building stone from ancient sites. In 1526,
during his supervision of the construction site at
the Basilica of San Lorenzo in Florence,
Michelangelo was preparing for the installation
of the new reliquary tribune balcony against the
interior of the front facade of the church. The
design included two monolithic freestanding
columns flanking the front entrance, which
would support the reliquary balcony.

The surviving correspondence between Mi-
chelangelo in Florence and his agent Fattucci in
Rome suggests that the builders had encountered
difficuldes in acquiring stone of suitable size
from local quarries for the columns at San
Lorenzo. In a letter to Michelangelo dated 3
April 1526, Fattucci reported that columns of the
necessary dimension could be obtained by exca-
vating at Porto, the ancient port of Rome, now a
marshy archaeological landscape along the
Tyrrhenian coast¥. Yet while Fattucci invoked
common Roman building practice, proposing to
use spolia for new construction, Michelangelo ev-
idently declined to take this advice. Instead, he
would excavate new columns of pietra serena from
quarries in the mountains outside Florence®.
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While the transport of marble columns from
Rome to Florence would certainly be expensive, it
is clear that Fattucci’s suggestion would stll ap-
peal to a builder in search of large monolithic
columns. Indeed, this was the reason why so many
ancient columns were used as spolia throughout
medieval Italy: this was a labor-saving and cost-
cutting technique, one that obviated the need to
excavate and work up a new column from scratch.
But by refusing to excavate at Porto, and rejecting
the reuse of ancient stones in his new construc-
tion, Michelangelo made a radical break with this
centuries-old traditional building practice.

Upon moving to Rome in 1534, Michelange-
lo participated even more directly in the active
preservation of ancient Roman remains. For in-
stance, he provided the design for a classicizing
wall-mounted tabernacle in the Conservators
Palace to house the Fasti, the fragmentary calen-
dar inscriptions recovered from the Roman Fo-
rum¥. In 1540 Paul 11 authorized the collection
of building stone in the Roman Forum for the
building site at St Peter’s, and in 1546 this led to
the first unearthing of the Fasti remains near the
Temple of Antoninus and Faustina. This inaugu-
rated an unprecedented preservation project,
where the leading antiquarians of Rome partici-
pated in the deciphering and collocation of these
remains®. Michelangelos selection as designer
not only attested to his status as leading artist in
Rome, but to his mastery of antiquarian knowl-
edge, which equipped and qualified him for such
a complex task. Indeed, the tabernacle design
raised numerous philological issues involving the
“correct” recomposition of the surviving texts.
The project also raised contextual issues as well,
where the designer was responsible for recreating
a lost architectural setting.

In the next decade Michelangelo also was in-
volved with a proposed scheme to improve the
existing conditions at the Column of Trajan.
Paul 11 had recently ordered the demolition of a
medieval chapel built against the column’s base
to reveal the elaborate relief sculpture decorat-
ing the pedestal®. This demolition, which great-
ly augmented the view of the Column of Trajan,
would precipitate much broader urban interven-
tions. In a decretal issued in September 1558,
the Conservators announced that they wished to
display the ancient landmark in a manner more
befitting its august status: “as the Column of
Trajan is one of the most beautiful and best-pre-

served antiquities in this city, it is fitting that the
site where it stands should be adorned and
arranged to correspond with the beauty of the
Column itself”*. At this point the civic magis-
trates sought Michelangelo’s advice; according
to the decretal, they acquired a drawing “for this
purpose [...] by Michelangelo”.

Yet after making this casual reference to
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7. Roma, Baths of Diocletian (Santa Maria
degli Angeli), view of the vaults in the
frigidarium.

Michelangelo’s involvement in the project, the
Conservators made no further mention of this
design, and we do not know if anything came of
this supposed project’’. However, we know that
Michelangelo’s house, in the Via Macel de’
Corvi, stood in the shadow of this beloved an-
cient monument. As the civic magistrates pro-
posed to finance these interventions at the site by
levying a gettito or “betterment tax” upon neigh-
boring property-owners, perhaps Michelangelo’s
design for the setting of the Column may have
served as a means to discharge this obligation’.
But Michelangelo may have taken particular in-
terest in this operation also because it posed an
intriguing preservation problem?.

Finally, Michelangelo’s work in directing
construction at the New St Peter’s may have also
critically shaped his approach to the preservation
of ancient remains in Rome. He served as chief
architect of this immense worksite for eighteen
years, from 1546 until his death in 1564°*. This
was an experience that afforded a unique per-
spective upon preservation issues: it was precise-
ly during his tenure as chief architect that
Raphael had composed the celebrated Lezter to
Leo x, with its urgent appeal to the pope to pre-
serve what little vestiges of antiquity still sur-
vived®’’. Michelangelo would have invariably
been struck by the same dilemma in supervising
the building site of St Peter’s, where the pressure
to accelerate construction translated into the ag-
gressive collection of ancient building stone
throughout Rome.

We have evidence suggesting Michelangelo’s
troubled response to the rapid demolitions tak-
ing place at the Vatican itself. According to
Michelangelo’s biographer Condivi, the artist
criticized Bramante for his impetuous demoli-
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tion of the existing columns at St Peter’s. He not-
ed that in the process of dismantling the ancient
nave, Bramante had toppled the venerable
columns and thus dashed them to pieces, rather
than lowering them gently, to ensure they sur-
vived intact’®. While later glosses appended to
Condivi’s text suggest that Michelangelo sought
to moderate this criticism, we may assume the
artist still regarded Bramante’s behavior as waste-
ful, if not sacrilegious®”.

It is even possible that Michelangelo enter-
tained notions of revamping the entire project of
the New St Peter’s to allow for the preservation
of significant surviving portions of the existing
early Christian basilica. A surviving sketch at-
tributed to Michelangelo suggests he considered
leaving the original structure as it stood, limiting
new construction to the area of the crossing and
the dome’®. Preservation concerns could have
prompted Michelangelo to contemplate this sur-
prising new direction, the most radical departure
yet from Bramante’s original design, thus bring-
ing the apparently inexorable process of destruc-
tion set into motion by Julius II in 1506 to a
grinding halt.

Indeed, by the mid-sixteenth century it was
no longer apparent whether the ancient basilica
would in fact be demolished at all. In 1534 An-
tonio da Sangallo closed the fractured end of the
ancient structure with the muro divisorio, making
the nave usable again, which was perhaps intend-
ed as a permanent solution®. Liturgical celebra-
tions and even religious burials continued to take
place in the ancient structure, suggesting that its
demolition was no longer expected to be immi-
nent or even possible®. Popular opposition to
Bramante’s reconstruction project continued to
mount over the course of the sixteenth century,
and while it is unlikely that Michelangelo him-
self shared this view, it is true that the ancient
nave was still standing on its original founda-
tions when he died in 1564¢'. This fact, coupled
with the absence of a definitive solution by
Michelangelo for the fagade of the new basilica,
reminds us that the artist did not rush to solve
this complex and perhaps intractable problem.
Instead he chose to concentrate his efforts upon
the cupola, the portion of the basilica that was
already under way, leaving the problem of the
nave to be resolved by a future generation.

Preservation, “minimalism”,

and the resurrection of the body

From 1510 until his death in 1564, throughout
his entire career as an architect and builder,
Michelangelo was engrossed with the problem
of preserving ancient structures. This issue be-
came even more all-absorbing when he began
working in Rome: in this unique setting,
Michelangelo confronted both greater obstacles
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8. Michelangelo Buonarroti, Last
Judgment, 1534-41, detail (Roma, Sistine
Chapel. From L. Partridge, G. Colalucci,
E Mancinelli, Michelangelo, The Last
Judgment: a glorious restoration,

New York 2000, plate 45, photograph
Takashi Okamura).

in the form of obdurate surviving physical re-
mains, but also greater opportunities, where an-
cient structures could be adapted in innovative
ways to accommodate changing contemporary
needs. Certainly by the time Michelangelo em-
barked upon his design for Santa Maria degli
Angeli, he was an acknowledged authority re-
garding the preservation of ancient remains,
with at least half a century of accumulated
knowledge and experience.

Although scholarship has generally consigned
preservation to the periphery of architectural
concerns in Renaissance Rome, and although
modern preservation orthodoxy tends to prevent
us from recognizing Renaissance preservation so-
lutions, it is clear that every builder working in
this context had to contend with such issues. Still,
Michelangelo’s design for Santa Maria degli An-
geli differs from other contemporary interven-
tions upon ancient remains. Michelangelo, in
demonstrating a cautious mindfulness regarding
the irreplaceable historic fabric of the Baths, an-
ticipated the approach of modern archaeologists
and conservationists to an astonishing degree.
The notion of preserving an ancient artifact un-
changed also invites intriguing parallels with very
different cultural traditions, such as the philoso-
phy of wabi-sabi in sixteenth-century Japan®,
which attributed special aesthetic and cultural val-
ue to precisely those artifacts that were weathered
or deformed with age. Clearly the concern for the
preservation of ancient artifacts was not uncom-
mon in the early modern world.

Finally, we may conclude by posing a new di-
rection. As noted at the beginning of this essay,
the scholarly literature has presented Michelan-
gelo’s unusual design for Santa Maria degli An-
geli, with its exposed plastered walls anticipating
the stripped-down, penitential interior of the
Gesu by just five years, as conforming to the aus-
terity and severity of the post-Tridentine Church
@ill. 7). The inscription placed upon Pius 1v’s
tomb in the new chancel, by exalting the Virgin’s
exorcism of pagan idols from the site, suggested
an even more antagonistic attitude toward the
surviving pagan remains®. Yet such a censorious
message seems strangely at odds with Michelan-
gelo’s evident, lifelong interest in preserving an-
cient remains.

Michelangelo’s spiritual preoccupations also
seem to contrast with the reformers’ goal to
stamp out heresy. The “minimalism” of Santa
Maria degli Angeli may offer insight regarding
Michelangelo’s concern with the resurrection, as
the central mystery of the Christian faith and an
abiding preoccupation of the artist, as demon-
strated by numerous drawings and writings pro-
duced over the course of his career®. Of these,
the monumental Resurrection scene in the lower
part of the Last Judgment in the Sistine Chapel is
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among the most powerful depictions of this
event, where the dead called forth from their
tombs by the beckoning gesture of Christ ascend
toward Paradise (ill. 8)¢. Late in life, Michelan-
gelo is said to have become increasingly ab-
sorbed with the thought of death; as Romeo De
Maio observed, Michelangelo achieved intellec-
tual serenity through his constant meditation
upon these matters. As Salvatore Settis has not-
ed, ruins — at least in the Western tradition —
have long been associated with the cycle of death
and rebirth’. The miracle and mystery of the
resurrection could not have been far from the
mind of the elderly Michelangelo, as he moved
slowly among the ruins of the ancient Baths.

Of course, Michelangelo’s poetic economy of
means — the very restraint which characterized
his intervention at Santa Maria degli Angeli —
cannot be confined to any single interpretation.
His turn to architecture from the figurative arts
late in his career has been persuasively described
as an expression of deepening pessimism, a way
of “saying no by falling silent”s8. Taken to an ex-
treme, one could argue that the minimal nature
of Michelangelo’s intervention at the Baths even
represented a kind of self-abnegation. Yet surely
we need to moderate this view by considering
the changing function of the ruined Baths. For if
Michelangelo’s project left the ancient structures
intact and unchanged, his design also infused
them with new vitality. From this perspective,
Michelangelo’s “minimalist” intervention, which
preserved the skeleton of the Baths intact, might
even evoke a parallel with the longed-for resur-
rection of the flesh®. Perhaps Michelangelo’s
“minimalism” thus could also function as an ex-
pression of hope for God’s mercy, and for the
fulfillment of the promise of everlasting life.
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A version of this argument was presented
at the Renaissance Society of America
conference in 2005. I am grateful to many
friends for advice and assistance, including
the members of the panel which generated
this talk, Anthony Grafton, Ingrid Row-
land, and Francesco di Teodoro. William
Wallace generously pointed out critical
additional evidence. I have also benefited
from conversations with Christy Ander-
son, Rabun Taylor, Paolo Fancelli, Pier
Nicola Pagliara, Virginia Raguin, and Jody
Ziegler. Key comments from the anony-
mous readers have also enlarged this study.
Thanks in particular to Lidia Cangemi
for providing me with the results of her
research on the Carthusian monastery at
Santa Maria degli Angeli. Finally, I would
like to dedicate this work to my patient ad-
visor and friend, James Ackerman.
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